FILED 09-03-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

2024AP1176

In the Wisconsin Court of Appeals District II

DESSA BEARDEN, KYLE JENSEN, ANDREW JANNY, CORDARIO GOOCH, JESSE ANDERSON, AND KAREEM BEARDEN,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, TRADE, & CONSUMER PROTECTION AND WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,

Defendants-Respondents.

On Appeal from the Waukesha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael J. Aprahamian, Presiding Case No. 2023CV1102

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANTS DESSA BEARDEN, KYLE JENSEN, ANDREW JANNY, CORDARIO GOOCH, JESSE ANDERSON, AND KAREEM BEARDEN

RYAN J. WALSH
Counsel of Record
AMY C. MILLER
TERESA A. MANION
EIMER STAHL LLP

INTRODUCTION

Appellants Dessa Bearden, Kyle Jensen, Andrew Janny, Cordario Gooch, Jesse Anderson, and Kareem Bearden—mom-and-pop landlords owning a handful of properties in Waukesha- and Milwaukee-area communities—are intelligent, conscientious, diverse, law-abiding Wisconsinites. One manages a property to pay for his elderly mother's medical care. Two others have invested in real estate to support their children. Several have or had careers in education. One is a former Army veteran. Although none is wealthy or trained in the law, each is determined to comply with the rules and regulations of our State.

But the regulations governing landlords are hopelessly vague, especially Sections ATCP 134.06 and 134.09, which impose myriad requirements on landlords of all sizes. Of course, sometimes even lawyers have difficulty interpreting laws. And some difficulty is to be expected, and tolerated, in the civil context, where, for example, landlords and tenants are free to dispute in small-claims court whether carpet damage is "normal wear and tear" (for which the landlord is responsible) or "tenant damage, waste or neglect" (for which she is not), or whether a landlord's unwelcome entry into a unit to look over and replace an old window was truly an "inspect[ion]" and a "repair." Resolving these disputes might even require extensive discovery, expert reports, complex records, and lengthy trials—all of which our civil courts are capable of handling.

But violations of ATCP 134.06 and 134.09 are not mere civil infractions. They are crimes—punishable by up to a year in jail. And, just as shocking, they are strict-liability offenses, so the mental state of the alleged "wrongdoer" is irrelevant. No amount of good faith, diligence,

intellect, or training will save a landlord in the crosshairs of a district attorney or a bureaucrat who insists (in hindsight) that a tenant should not have been held responsible for an especially filthy carpet, that the replacement of a drafty window was not technically a "repair," or that some other of the rules' blurred lines had been crossed.

On top of this, landlords also must navigate a criminally enforceable regulation that does not even ban or require conduct—it has no *actus* reus at all—despite DATCP's having authority only to "forbid[]" or "prescrib[e]" acts. Wis. Stat. § 100.20(2)(a). The rule declares that certain landlord-tenant contracts are "void and unenforceable," but it does not ban parties from entering them. Hence it does not "forbid" or "prescribe" anything and so is not within DATCP's power to issue. This Court should declare it *ultra vires*.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 134.08 exceeds DATCP's authority granted by Wis. Stat. § 100.20.

The circuit court answered no.

2. Whether Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 134.06(3) is void for vagueness under the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution.

The circuit court answered no.

3. Whether Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 134.06(3) is void for vagueness under the Due Process Clause of the Wisconsin Constitution.

The circuit court answered no.

4. Whether Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 134.06(4)(a) is void for vagueness under the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution.

The circuit court answered no.

5. Whether Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 134.06(4)(a) is void for vagueness under the Due Process Clause of the Wisconsin Constitution.

The circuit court answered no.

6. Whether Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 134.09(2) is void for vagueness under the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution.

The circuit court answered no.

7. Whether Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 134.09(2) is void for vagueness under the Due Process Clause of the Wisconsin Constitution.

The circuit court answered no.

ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Given the dearth of case law in Wisconsin on void-for-vagueness challenges under the Due Process Clause of the Wisconsin and federal constitutions and the importance of whether DATCP has exceeded its authority in promulgating § ATCP 134.08, oral argument and publication may be warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Landlords are five landlords and one prospective landlord who own, and to various extents manage, a handful of properties in the Waukesha- and Milwaukee-area communities. R.58, ¶¶ 30–32. Many of the Landlords manage their own properties, some on a full-time basis and others on a part-time basis. R.58, ¶ 42. Landlords are aware of Wisconsin landlord-tenant law and try their best to comply with this complex legal regime. R.58, ¶ 49.

Landlords filed their complaint on July 11, 2023, seeking a declaration that Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 134.08 exceeds DATCP's

authority and that Wis. Admin. Code §§ ATCP 134.06(3), 134.06(4)(a), and 134.09(2) are void for vagueness under the Wisconsin Constitution. R.3. Landlords moved for a temporary injunction. R.14–15, 33.1

On September 25, 2023, the circuit court heard argument on Landlords' motion and denied the same. App.4–82. The court disagreed with Landlords regarding DATCP's authority to promulgate Section ATCP 134.08, holding that "Section 100.20 in authorizing the Department to forbid methods of competition that are unfair, includes the power to promulgate a regulation declaring certain contracts and terms to be void and unenforceable." App.77.

With respect to Landlords' vagueness challenges, the circuit court stated.

Wisconsin precedent mandates application of the all applications test and binding precedent from the Court of Appeals in the context of a vagueness challenge to ATCP Chapter 134 holds that an administrative rule will withstand a vagueness challenge if it is sufficient definite so that potential offenders are able to discern when they are approaching the zone of proscribed conduct.

App.72. But the court expressed "disagreement" both "with the all applications test" when evaluating the claim under the Wisconsin Constitution and with the "statement ... that a regulation is sufficiently definite so long as a potential offender is able to discern when he or she is approaching the zone of proscribed conduct." App.73.

The circuit court added that, absent Wisconsin-specific precedents, it "would tend to find that Plaintiffs have met their burden of establishing

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ Landlords filed their motion and initial brief in support on July 11, 2023. R.4, 14–15. Landlords amended their brief in support on July 31. See R.32–33.

a reasonable probability of success of showing the unconstitutional vagueness of ATCP 134.06(3) ... and ATCP 134.09(2)." R 50:70.

Landlords filed an amended complaint on October 6, 2023, adding claims that Sections ATCP 134.06(3), 134.06(4)(a), and 134.09(2) are void for vagueness under the federal Constitution. R.58. On the same day, Landlords filed a second motion for temporary injunction. On December 21, 2023, the circuit court denied this second motion, "conclud[ing] that the additional claims do not materially change the Court's analysis in deciding the first motion." App.84.

The parties filed a stipulation and joint motion for summary judgment on April 29, 2024. R.78. On April 30, 2024, the Court entered an order to this effect. App.85. This appeal followed. *See* R.82–83.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews "de novo" a summary-judgment decision, "applying the same methodology as the circuit court." *Quick Charge Kiosk LLC v. Kaul*, 2020 WI 54, ¶ 9, 392 Wis. 2d 35, 944 N.W.2d 598. "Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact and 'the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id. (quoting Wis. Stat. § 802.08(2)).

"The constitutionality of a provision of the administrative code is a question of law which [courts] decide *de novo*." *Skow v. Goodrich*, 162 Wis. 2d 448, 450, 469 N.W.2d 888 (Ct. App. 1991). And "[t]he issue of whether administrative rules exceed an agency's statutory authority presents a question of law, which [courts] review de novo." *Wis. Builders Ass'n v. Wis. Dep't of Transp.*, 2005 WI 160, ¶ 8, 285 Wis. 2d 472, 702 N.W.2d 433.

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION ATCP 134.08 EXCEEDS DATCP'S AUTHORITY AND IS INVALID

"[A]dministrative agencies are creatures of the legislature" and accordingly have only the authority granted by statute. *Myers v. Wis. Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 2019 WI 5, ¶ 21, 385 Wis. 2d 176, 922 N.W.2d 47. An agency rule that exceeds its statutory authority is invalid. *See Wis. Legislature v. Palm*, 2020 WI 42, ¶¶ 43–59, 391 Wis. 2d 497, 942 N.W.2d 900; *see also* Wis. Stat. §§ 227.11(2)(a), 227.40(4)(a).

Administrative regulations, like statutes, are interpreted according to their plain terms. State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cnty., 2004 WI 58, ¶¶ 44–45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110; see also Wis. Dep't of Revenue v. Menasha Corp., 2008 WI 88, ¶ 45, 311 Wis. 2d 579, 754 N.W.2d 95.

Wisconsin Statute 100.20 empowers DATCP to "forbid[] methods of competition in business or trade practices in business which are determined by the department to be unfair" and "prescrib[e] methods of competition in business or trade practices in business which are determined by the department to be fair." Wis. Stat. § 100.20(2)(a). Consistent with this unambiguous grant of authority, DATCP has promulgated myriad regulations that "prescrib[e]" or "forbid[]" conduct, using the familiar "shall" and "shall not" construction. See, e.g., Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 134.06(2) ("[a] landlord shall ..."); id. § ATCP 134.07(3) ("[n]o landlord shall ..."); id. § ATCP 134.09 ("[n]o landlord may ..."); see also, e.g., Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 100.981 ("no dairy plant operator may ..."); id. § ATCP 110.09 ("No seller shall ..."); id. § ATCP 110.09(3) ("No seller ...

shall engage ..."); *id.* § ATCP 124.04(1) ("No price comparison may be made ..."); *id.* § ATCP 156.02 ("No person may ..."); *id.* § ATCP 137.04(1) ("No person may ..."). The prior version of Section ATCP 134.08 likewise forbade conduct, stating that "no rental agreement may" do a number of enumerated actions. Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 134.08 (2014).

In 2015, however, DATCP, amended Section ATCP 134.08 so that it no longer prohibits conduct. It now states that "a rental agreement is void and unenforceable if it does any of the following" enumerated acts. See Wis. Admin. Reg. No. 716B, CR 14-038 (Aug. 31, 2015). To declare a kind of contract "void and enforceable" is not to forbid parties from entering one. Nor is it to require them to enter into different agreements. It is simply to declare a consequence: if such an agreement is made, it is void. Because Section ATCP 134.08 now plainly no longer "forbid[s]" or "prescrib[es]" conduct, it exceeds DATCP's authority under Section 100.20. See Wis. Builders Ass'n v. Wis. Dep't of Transp., 2005 WI App 160, ¶¶ 9–32, 285 Wis. 2d 472, 702 N.W.2d 433.

If the language of Section ATCP 134.08 were not plain enough, context confirms that the regulation neither mandates nor forbids conduct. *Kalal*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 46. DATCP clearly knew how to require or prohibit conduct, since it did so in innumerable other regulations. *See supra* pp.15–16. That DATCP failed to do so here indicates that it had "a different intention." *Kimberly-Clark Corp. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of Wis.*, 110 Wis. 2d 455, 463, 329 N.W.2d 143 (1983). Similarly, the regulatory history of Section ATCP 134.08 demonstrates that it does not prohibit conduct. *See Richards v. Badger Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2008 WI 52, ¶ 22, 309 Wis. 2d 541, 749 N.W.2d 581. The earlier version of Section ATCP 134.08 contained language clearly forbidding conduct ("no rental agreement

may ..."), while the current version contains no such language ("a rental agreement is void and unenforceable if ...").

And if there were any ambiguity about the meaning of Section ATCP 134.08, the rule must be construed so as not to prohibit or prescribe conduct. Violations of Chapter ATCP 134 are punishable as crimes, see Wis. Stat. § 100.26(3), and thus Chapter ATCP 134 must be construed narrowly to avoid doubt upon its constitutionality and under the rule of lenity. See United States v. Davis, 588 U.S. 445, 464 (2019); Liparota v. United States, 471 U.S. 419, 426–28 (1985).

Because Section ATCP 134.08 neither "forbid[s]" nor "prescrib[es]" conduct, it exceeds DATCP's statutory authority and is invalid. See Palm, 2020 WI 42, ¶¶ 43–59; Wis. Stat. §§ 227.11(2)(a), 227.40(4)(a).

Siding with DATCP, the circuit court ignored the language of the statute, the text of the regulation, and basic interpretive canons. Nothing in Section 100.20 empowers DATCP to declare contracts void and unenforceable. To discover within the statute the authority to do so, the circuit court impermissibly read into the statute language "that does not exist." See In re A.P., 2019 WI App 18, ¶ 10, 386 Wis. 2d 557, 927 N.W.2d 560. Indeed, other statutes in Chapter 100 explicitly provide when certain contracts are void. See Wis. Stat. § 100.202 ("All contracts and agreements made in violation of s. 100.201 are void."); id. § 100.22(2) (similar). Closely related statutes—including statutes "in the same chapter"—"are to be interpreted together" as part of "the same statutory scheme." State v. Reyes Fuerte, 2017 WI 104, ¶ 27, 378 Wis. 2d 504, 904 N.W.2d 773. That Sections 100.201 and 100.22(2) expressly provide when certain contracts are "void," while Section 100.20 says nothing of the kind further supports that Section 100.20 does not empower DATCP

to declare contracts void.

Nor is there "implicit" authority in Section 100.20 to declare contracts void. First, rulemaking authority is always "expressly conferred"; it is not implied or implicit. See Wis. Stat. § 227.11; Palm, 2020 WI 42, ¶ 52. And any "imprecise delegation[]" of rulemaking authority must be construed narrowly. Palm, 2020 WI 42, ¶ 52. To the extent, then, that Section 100.20 is "imprecise" and requires implication, it should be construed narrowly, not to include undefined powers other than to prescribe or forbid business practices and methods.

Additionally, the circuit court's "rel[iance] on Wis. Stat. §§ 704.44 and 704.95" is misplaced. App.77. First, the circuit court noted that Wis. Stat. § 704.44 "mimics" Wis. Admin. Code § ATCP 134.08 "to the letter." App.77. But this says nothing about whether Section 100.20 grants DATCP the authority to declare contracts void and unenforceable. The Legislature, of course, has the authority to pass laws declaring that certain contracts, or provisions of the same, will be void and unenforceable, as it did in Wis. Stat. § 704.44. See, e.g., Wis. Stat. § 134.49(5) ("A provision in a business contract that violates this subsection is void and unenforceable."); id. § 136.06(3) (similar); id. § 194.53(2)(b) (similar). But DATCP is not the Legislature. Its authority is limited to the power expressly granted by statute. And no statute grants DATCP the authority to declare contracts void and unenforceable.

Section 704.95 does not support the circuit court's conclusion either. While the statute notes that practices which violate Wis. Stat. § 704.44 "may also constitute unfair methods of competition or unfair trade practices under s. 100.20," Wis. Stat. § 704.95, DATCP did not so declare in Section ATCP 134.08. Instead, DATCP copied the language of Wis.

Stat. § 704.44, which declares contracts void and unenforceable—it does not prohibit conduct or otherwise declare a practice to be unfair. Indeed, if it did, there would have been no reason for the Legislature to include Section 704.95's permission to declare these practices unfair. And if DATCP wanted to declare practices unfair and prohibit them, it knows how to do so. See supra pp.16–17. But that is not what DATCP did.

Finally, DATCP's reliance on *Baierl v. McTaggert*, 2001 WI 107, 245 Wis. 2d 632, 629 N.W.2d 277, is misplaced. First and most importantly, *Baierl* involved the earlier and materially different version of Section ATCP 134.08, *see* 2001 WI 107, ¶ 4, and therefore does not control any analysis of the current version. *See Bank of New York Mellon v. Carson*, 2015 WI 15, ¶ 26, 361 Wis. 2d 23, 859 N.W.2d 422 (declining to adopt interpretation of "significantly different statute[]"). More, the relevant language from *Baierl* is not binding because the Court did not address whether the regulation exceeded DATCP's authority, but rather whether a lease that included a provision that violated the regulation was enforceable. *Baierl*, 2001 WI 107, ¶ 2; *Zarder v. Humana Ins. Co.*, 2010 WI 35, ¶ 57, 324 Wis. 2d 325 782 N.W.2d 682 (Wisconsin Supreme Court opinion addressing a different legal question was "inapplicable as precedent").

II. SECTIONS ATCP 134.06(3), (4)(A), AND 134.09(2) ARE UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AND MUST BE SET ASIDE

Three of DATCP's regulations—Sections ATCP 134.06(3), 134.06(4)(a), and 134.09(2)—are void for vagueness under the due-process clauses of the Wisconsin and federal constitutions. These regulations, which create indefinite strict-liability crimes for acts that are not *malum in se*, are vague and confusing, failing to give ordinary

persons fair notice of what is prohibited and inviting arbitrary enforcement. These regulations therefore violate the federal and state due process clauses on their face. See Johnson v. United States, 576 U.S. 591, 601–02 (2015); Sessions v. Dimaya, 584 U.S. 148, 159 n.3 (2018). The regulations are therefore "invalid." See Wis. Stat. § 227.40(4)(a).

A Regulation Is Unconstitutionally Vague When It Fails to Give Fair Notice or Permits Arbitrary Enforcement

Both the Wisconsin and federal constitutions forbid unduly vague laws. This follows from both laws' prohibiting the State from depriving persons of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. U.S. Const. amend. V; Wis. Const. art. I, § 1; State v. Neumann, 2013 WI 58, ¶ 32 n.10, 348 Wis. 2d 455, 832 N.W.2d 560.2 The government violates due process by having a law "so vague that it fails to give ordinary people fair notice of the conduct it punishes, or so standardless that it invites arbitrary enforcement." Johnson, 576 U.S. at 595.

These concepts are known as the "two due process essentials:" (1) "fair notice," which means the law is defined with "sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited," and (2) fair enforcement, meaning that the law's language "does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." Skilling v. United States, 561 U.S. 358, 402–03 (2010) (citation omitted); see also State v. Starks, 51 Wis. 2d 256, 262, 186 N.W.2d 245 (1971) (striking down loitering statute as void for vagueness); State v. Popanz, 112 Wis. 2d 166, 172–73,

² Wisconsin courts generally interpret Wisconsin's due process requirements consistent with those of the federal constitution. See Cnty. of Kenosha v. C & S Mgmt., Inc., 223 Wis. 2d 373, 393, 588 N.W.2d 236 (1999); but see infra p.24.

177, 332 N.W.2d 750 (1983) (holding that statutory phrase "private school" was void for vagueness); State v. Janssen, 213 Wis. 2d 471, 478, 570 N.W.2d 746 (Ct. App. 1997) (ruling that "casting contempt upon the flag" is void for vagueness). Administrative regulations are also subject to these requirements. State v. Courtney, 74 Wis. 2d 705, 709, 247 N.W.2d 714 (1976).

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