FILED
10-03-2024
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT II

Case No. 2024AP1176

DESSA BEARDEN, KYLE JENSEN,
ANDREW JANNY, CORDARIO
GOOCH, JESSE ANDERSON, AND
KAREEM BEARDEN,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF
AGRICULTURE, TRADE, &
CONSUMER PROTECTION AND
WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF
JUSTICE,

Defendants-Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE WAUKESHA COUNTY
CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE
MICHAEL J. APRAHAMIAN, PRESIDING
CASE NO. 2023CV1102

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL
Attorney General of Wisconsin

COLIN T. ROTH
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1103985

Attorneys for Defendants-
Respondents

Wisconsin Department of Justice

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

ARGUMENT

I. DATCP had express statutory authority to promulgate Wis. Admin. Code ATCP § 134.08.

The Legislature has long granted DATCP broad authority to promulgate administrative rules under Wis. Stat. § 100.20. That statute expressly authorizes DATCP to "issue

general orders forbidding methods of competition in business or trade practices in business which are determined by the department to be unfair.” Wis. Stat. § 100.20(2)(a).

One such rule is Wis. Admin. Code ATCP § 134.08 (“section 134.08”). It provides that “a rental agreement is void and unenforceable if it does any of the following,” and then lists various prohibited terms. Barred terms include, for example, requiring tenants to pay the landlord’s attorney fees arising from a rental dispute (subsection (4)) or authorizing the landlord to exclude a tenant from the premises without following ordinary eviction procedures (subsection (3)).

Appellants contend that section 134.08 exceeds DATCP’s authority under Wis. Stat. § 100.20 because the rule does not “prohibit conduct”: in their view, the rule simply “declare[s] a consequence”—that rental agreements are void under certain circumstances—rather than “forbid[ding] parties from entering one.” (App. Br. 16–20.)

This semantic argument fails for two independent reasons, one resting on case law and the other on statute.

A. *Baierl* forecloses Appellants’ argument.

Appellants’ position that section 134.08 does not prohibit conduct is foreclosed by *Baierl v. McTaggart*, 2001 WI 107, 245 Wis. 2d 632, 629 N.W.2d 277. That case involved a residential lease purporting to obligate the tenant to reimburse the landlord’s attorney fees, a provision barred by section 134.08. *Id.* ¶¶ 1, 4. Although the primary issue concerned whether the lease was enforceable despite the invalid provision, the court also addressed the precise issue raised here and resolved it in DATCP’s favor.

In analyzing section 134.08’s language to determine the “nature of the regulatory prohibition,” *Baierl* observed that “the prohibited act is the inclusion of a clause claiming to obligate the tenant to reimburse the landlord’s costs and

attorneys fees.” *Id.* ¶ 22. In other words, the rule covered conduct: the “prohibited act” of including in a lease a term barred by section 134.08.

And *Baierl* bolstered this conclusion by also considering “[t]he language of the enabling statute, Wis. Stat. § 100.20,” which “also provides insight into the nature of the prohibition in [section 134.08].” *Id.* ¶ 23. The statute “generally prohibits ‘[u]nfair methods of competition and unfair trade practices in business,’” and the court observed that DATCP “promulgat[es] rules, such as § ATCP 134.08, to proscribe specific unfair trade practices.” *Id.* So, “not only is the inclusion of the provision at issue a prohibited act under [section 134.08], but it is also properly denominated an unfair trade practice.” *Id.*

In short, *Baierl* left no doubt that section 134.08 is a valid regulation that bars a type of prohibited conduct under Wis. Stat. § 100.20.

Appellants respond that *Baierl* is irrelevant because it addressed an “earlier and materially different version of Section ACTP 134.08.” (App. Br. 20.) But Section 134.08 was not meaningfully different when *Baierl* was decided, at least as to this “conduct” issue. Then, its introductory clause read “no rental agreement may,” before listing prohibited provisions. *Baierl*, 245 Wis. 2d 632, ¶ 4. Now it instead says “a rental agreement is void and unenforceable if it does any of the following,” before listing the exact same prohibited provisions. Wis. Admin. Code ATCP § 134.08.

Neither version is phrased in terms of what landlords “shall” or “shall not” do, which is apparently what Appellants think is required to yield a valid rule under Wis. Stat. § 100.20 (App. Br. 16–17.) *Baierl* had no difficulty in finding that the prior version of section 134.08 barred conduct under Wis. Stat. § 100.20. The same must be true for the current version, which is not meaningfully different.

Appellants' only theory that section 134.08's prior version was materially different concerns an entirely different issue: whether prohibited provisions are severable or instead void the entire lease. To be sure, the prior version was "ambiguous" on this point, as *Baierl* observed, and the new version eliminated this ambiguity. 245 Wis. 2d 632, ¶ 24. But that is a distinction without a difference here. Both versions include the same "conduct" phrasing. Section 134.08 has never referred to what landlords "shall" or "shall not" do, and so *Baierl*'s observation that the rule falls within Wis. Stat. § 100.20 still controls today.

B. Wisconsin Stat. §§ 704.44 and 704.95 also expressly authorized DATCP to promulgate Section 134.08.

Even if *Baierl* did not foreclose Appellants' theory, two statutes would: Wis. Stat. §§ 704.44 and 704.95.

Wisconsin Stat. § 704.95 provides that "[p]ractices in violation of s. . . . 704.44 may also constitute unfair methods of competition or unfair trade practices under s. 100.20."

In turn, Wis. Stat. § 704.44 exactly mimics the language of section 134.08. Both are titled "Residential rental agreement that contains certain provisions is void," both begin with the same introductory clause—"a residential rental agreement is void and unenforceable if it does any of the following"—and both bar the same lease terms. *Compare* Wis. Stat. § 704.44, *with* Wis. Admin. Code ATCP § 134.08. Not a single word differs between the two provisions.

The import of these two statutes could not be clearer. Under Wis. Stat. § 704.95, violations of Wis. Stat. § 704.44 "constitute unfair methods of competition or unfair trade practices under [Wis. Stat. §] 100.20." Section 134.08 matches Wis. Stat. § 704.44, and so violations of Section 134.08 also "constitute unfair methods of competition or unfair trade practices under [Wis. Stat. §] 100.20." Therefore, Wis. Stat.

§ 100.20 expressly authorized DATCP to promulgate Section 134.08.

None of Appellants' responses persuasively deal with these two statutes.

Appellants concede that Wis. Stat. § 704.44 and Section 134.08 are identical, but they contend that “this says nothing about whether Section 100.20 grants DATCP the authority to declare contracts void and unenforceable.” (App. Br. 19.) That might be true in a vacuum, but it ignores Wis. Stat. § 704.95. Again, that statute expressly recognizes that “[p]ractices in violation of . . . [Wis. Stat. §] 704.44” are “unfair methods of competition or unfair trade practices under [Wis. Stat. §] 100.20.” This means that Section 134.08—which mimics Wis. Stat. § 704.44—also bars “unfair methods of competition or unfair trade practices under [Wis. Stat. §] 100.20.”

Appellants' attempt to wave away Wis. Stat. § 704.95 is difficult to decipher. (App. Br. 19–20.) They seem to say that even though “practices in violation” of Wis. Stat. § 704.44 fall within Wis. Stat. § 100.20, section 134.08 somehow does not cover such “practices.” That makes no sense, given how Wis. Stat. § 704.44 and section 134.08 cover the exact same “practices”: adding prohibited terms to leases.

Appellants' other arguments rely on irrelevant statutes and concepts. They point to Wis. Stat. §§ 100.202 and 100.22(2) as examples of statutes that expressly void contracts in contrast to Wis. Stat. § 100.20 (App. Br. 18), but that is irrelevant: Wis. Stat. § 704.95 does the work of defining provisions like Section 134.08 as barring unfair trade practices under Wis. Stat. § 100.20. And Appellants' musings about “implicit” rulemaking authority are equally irrelevant (App. Br. 19), as DATCP has explicit authority here under all the statutes discussed above. Nor is there any ambiguity that requires interpreting Wis. Stat. § 100.20 narrowly (App. Br. 18–19), given both *Baierl* and these chapter 704 statutes.

II. The challenged provisions in Wis. Admin. Code ATCP §§ 134.06 and 134.09 are not unconstitutionally vague on their face.

Appellants do not even try to show that the challenged provisions in ATCP ch. 134 “operate[] unconstitutionally in all applications,” and so their facial vagueness claims fail for that reason alone. *SEIU*, 2020 WI 67, ¶ 38. *SEIU* binds this Court, despite Appellants’ efforts to import inapplicable federal standards.

And even if a more lenient facial challenge standard applied, Appellants have not met it. These provisions are all sufficiently definite. At worst, Appellants have identified a problem only with enforcing them through strict liability criminal prosecutions; any remedy should be limited to such applications.

A. Appellants cannot show that the challenged provisions are vague in every application.

1. Facial challenges generally must show invalidity in every application.

Challenges to the constitutionality of a statute or administrative regulation generally come in two flavors: facial and as applied. *SEIU*, 2020 WI 67, ¶ 37.

“As-applied challenges address a specific application of the statute against the challenging party.” *Id.* In such cases, “the reviewing court considers the facts of the particular case in front of it to determine whether the challenging party has shown that the constitution was actually violated by the way the law was applied in that situation.” *Id.* By contrast, in a facial challenge “the challenging party claims that the law is unconstitutional on its face—that is, it operates unconstitutionally in all applications.” *Id.* ¶ 38. The supreme court has “repeatedly reaffirmed that to successfully challenge a law on its face, the challenging party must show

that the statute cannot be enforced ‘under any circumstances.’” *Id.* (citation omitted).

A claim of facial invalidity therefore imposes an extremely heavy burden on challengers. “Proving a legislative enactment cannot ever be enforced constitutionally ‘is the most difficult of constitutional challenges’ and an ‘uphill endeavor.’” *Id.* ¶ 39. Such claims are “disfavored” because they raise a significant “risk of judicial overreach,” in that they “often rest on speculation about what might occur in the future” and “call[] on courts to interpret statutes prematurely and decide legal questions before they must be decided.” *Id.* ¶ 40. That can lead courts to “overstep” their judicial role by “strik[ing] down a legislative enactment with constitutional applications.” *Id.* ¶ 42. Therefore, the rule that a facial challenge must show invalidity in every application “has not been a principle selectively applied; it is not optional.” *Id.* ¶ 43.

Appellants do not even try to satisfy this strict standard—nor could they. Countless constitutional applications of the challenged regulations are plain as day. To take just one hypothetical, lawful example for each:

- ATCP § 134.06(3): A landlord withheld money from a tenant’s security deposit to repair tenant “damage” in the form of burn marks on the wall caused by a grease fire the tenant started on his stove in the kitchen. Despite prompt repairs, the tenant moved out a month early without paying the remaining rent, and so the landlord also withheld this “unpaid rent for which the tenant [was] legally responsible.” The landlord did not, however, withhold any money to repair “wear and tear” to 15-year-old carpet that had worn down around the front door, a high-traffic area.
- ATCP § 134.06(4): The landlord sent the tenant a “written statement” about the security deposit

withholding; it contained “items” stating that a specific amount was withheld for “kitchen wall repair” and another specific amount was withheld for “unpaid last month’s rent.”

- ATCP § 134.09(2): The landlord perceived a “safety emergency” and believed that entry was “necessary to protect the premises from damage” when she saw smoke coming out of the tenant’s window and entered the unit without advance notice to put out the grease fire. Later, the landlord gave advance notice to the tenant and entered the unit to “inspect” the damage and “repair” the kitchen wall.

One could craft countless more clear scenarios like these. Because the burden rests on Appellants to show invalidity in *every* conceivable application, their facial challenge fails.

2. A more lenient standard does not apply here.

Realizing they cannot show invalidity in every application, Appellants instead assert that this “not optional” test, *SEIU*, 2020 WI 67, ¶ 43, is nevertheless optional in the vagueness context. But it is not, as our supreme court confirmed in *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63. *Wood* observed that “when a court reviews a facial vagueness challenge, provided it does not implicate protected conduct, a court upholds ‘the challenge only if the enactment is impermissibly vague in all of its applications.’” *Id.* ¶ 44 n.15.

To be sure, *SEIU* did acknowledge a “very limited” exception to this general rule, but not for vagueness challenges, as Appellants assert. (App. Br. 27–28.) Rather, *SEIU* observed an exception for “facial challenges premised on general *claims of statutory overbreadth*.” *SEIU*, 2020 WI 67, ¶ 43 n.14 (emphasis added). Appellants raise

vagueness claims here, not overbreadth ones. These “two concepts are distinct.” *State v. Starks*, 51 Wis. 2d 256, 263, 186 N.W.2d 245 (1971). And the only Wisconsin case *SEIU* cited, *State v. Konrath*, 218 Wis. 2d 290, 305, 577 N.W.2d 601 (1998), noted only an “overbreadth” exception for First Amendment claims, which are not presented here.¹

The only other Wisconsin cases on which Appellants rely predate *Wood* and *SEIU*: *State v. Popanz*, 112 Wis. 2d 166, 177, 332 N.W.2d 750 (1983), and *Starks*, 51 Wis. 2d 256. (App. Br. 26–27.) Neither case expressly addressed how to resolve facial challenges on vagueness grounds, and, in any case, *Wood* and *SEIU* supersede them. As the circuit court observed, “more recent authority makes clear that it”—that is, the “all applications test for facial challenges”—“is still the law and [the court is] bound to apply it.” (A-App. 72.)

Appellants respond that *SEIU* did not expressly overrule *Starks* and *Popanz* (App. Br. 28), which is true but irrelevant. To the extent a conflict exists between the more recent supreme court decision and its earlier ones, Appellants offer no authority for the proposition that the earlier ones can somehow still control.

In short, the binding Wisconsin precedent in *SEIU* and *Wood* is clear: vagueness challenges must satisfy the strict “invalid in every application” standard.

¹ The only basis Appellants offer for extending this “very limited” exception for “overbreadth” challenges to vagueness challenges is a citation within a citation. *SEIU* cited *Sabri v. United States*, 541 U.S. 600, 609 (2004), which itself cited *City of Chicago v. Morales*, 527 U.S. 41 (1999), a vagueness case. But *Sabri* only cited *Morales* for the proposition that facial challenges “invite judgments on fact-poor records” and “relax[] familiar requirements of standing.” *Sabri*, 541 U.S. at 609.

Lacking support in Wisconsin case law, Appellants turn to federal cases that do not bind this Court, primarily *Johnson v. United States*, 576 U.S. 591, 602 (2015). There, the U.S. Supreme Court relaxed the standard for a facial vagueness challenge to a “sui generis” so-called “residual clause” in a federal criminal statute. *United States v. Cook*, 970 F.3d 866, 876 (7th Cir. 2020) (describing holding in *Johnson*). As the Seventh Circuit has recognized, given *Johnson*’s unique context, it is “not clear how much *Johnson* . . . actually expand[ed] the universe of litigants who may mount a facial challenge to a statute they believe is vague.” *Id.* In a “routine vagueness challenge that highlights some imprecision in the statutory language and posits uncertainty as to whether the statute might apply to certain hypothetical facts”—which precisely describes Appellants’ claims here—*Johnson* did not change the “invalid in every application” rule. *Id.*²

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